FILE COPY

Appeal No. 19-0267

DO NOT REMOVE THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

FROM FILE

SWN PRODUCTION COMPANY, LLC

Putative Intervenor Below/Petitioner,

COREY CONLEY, et al.,

Plaintiffs and Defendants Below/Respondents,

Appeal from an Order of the Circuit Court of Brooke County, West Virginia Civil Action No. 14-C-75

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Submitted by:

Timothy M. Miller (WVSB ID No. 2564)
Robert M. Stonestreet (WVSB ID No. 9370)
Jennifer J. Hicks (WVSB ID No. 11423)
BABST, CALLAND, CLEMENTS & ZOMNIR, P.C.
BB&T Square Suite 1000
300 Summers Street
Charleston West Virginia 25301
681-205-8888
681-205-8814 (fax)
tmiller@babstcalland.com
rstonestreeet@babstcalland.com

I. Assignments of Error.

- The circuit court erred in denying intervention as of right, pursuant to W.VA. R. CIV.
 P. 24, to petitioner and putative intervenor below, SWN Production Company, LLC ("SWN"), because SWN has an ownership interest in the property whose title is in dispute in this suit for quiet title. SWN is a necessary and indispensable party to this case, and thus is entitled to intervene as of right.
- 2. The circuit court erred in concluding that SWN did not timely move to intervene under Rule 24, and thus erred in denying intervention as of right on this ground. The circuit court failed to consider the status of the proceedings at the time SWN sought to intervene and the fact that SWN would be severely prejudiced if intervention were denied.
- 3. The circuit court erred in concluding that SWN did not have a protectable interest in this case and that it could not intervene because it acquired the lease after suit was filed.
 The circuit court erred in denying intervention as of right on these grounds.
- 4. The circuit court erred in failing to consider how the disposition of the underlying claims would impair SWN's ability to protect its property interests and erred in concluding that SWN's interests were adequately protected by Plaintiff Corey Conley.

 The circuit court thus erred in denying intervention as of right on these grounds.
- 5. The circuit court erred in denying, in the alternative, permissive intervention to SWN.

II. Statement of the Case.

A. Introduction

The underlying case is a quiet title action over competing claims to the title to certain oil and gas rights in a 3.763 acre parcel of land known as the Conley Parcel. JA00001 – JA00010 (Complaint). The Conley Parcel is one of many parcels that is part of a broader 161.53 acre tract, and title to the oil and gas rights in both the Conley Parcel and in the other parcels stems from the interpretation of the same deed. *Id.* Thus, the decision in this case affects not only the Conley Parcel, but may also implicate the title to the oil and gas rights for other parcels carved out of the 161.53 acres.

Putative intervenor SWN Production is an oil and gas company that has been actively developing oil and gas property in the northern panhandle. JA00167 – JA00179 (SWN Second Motion to Intervene). SWN has a lease of the oil and gas rights in the Conley Parcel. *Id.* It is an *owner* of the mineral estate in the very property at issue in this title dispute. SWN also has other oil and gas leases for other parcels that are part of the broader 161.53 acre tract that may be affected by the judgment in this case.

SWN twice moved to intervene in the underlying case, and the circuit court denied both motions—even though Defendants themselves moved to add SWN as a third-party defendant in the underlying case. JA00167 – JA00179 (SWN first motion to intervene); JA00414 – JA00476 (SWN second motion to intervene) JA00215 – JA00219 (Aug. 16, 2016 order) JA01024 – JA01030 (Feb. 22, 2019 order).

SWN timely appealed the denial of its second motion to intervene-the instant appellate case pending before this Court. SWN is also concurrently filing a motion to stay the proceedings in the circuit court pending this appeal.

This Court should reverse the circuit court's decision and allow SWN to intervene in the underlying case. It is black letter law that all persons who claim an interest in property must be parties to a quiet title action involving that property. *Bonafede v. Grafton Feed & Storage Co.*, 81 W. Va. 313, 313, 94 S.E. 471, 471 (1917); *O'Daniels v. City of Charleston*, 200 W. Va. 711, 716, 490 S.E.2d 800, 805 (1997). SWN also satisfies all the other grounds for intervention.

B. Nature of the claims in the underlying quiet title action.

This lawsuit is over the ownership of certain oil and gas rights that stem from an instrument known as the Milliken Deed. In 1959, Maria H. Milliken conveyed the certain mineral interests in a 161.53 acre tract in Brooke County, West Virginia to Eli Rabb, including the "Rights to explore and dig for oil and gas and with all necessary rights to produce and market same[.]" *See* JA00088 - JA00115.¹

This conveyance of mineral rights expired in 1985. The Milliken Deed limited the duration of the mineral rights being conveyed to no later than December 30, 1985. *Id.* At JA00088 - JA00115.

The 161.53 acre tract was subsequently subdivided into multiple smaller tracts, including the Conley Parcel at issue here.

In 2000 - 15 years after the conveyance of the mineral rights terminated under the Milliken Deed - Conley obtained rights to the Conley Parcel, a 3.763 acre parcel carved out of the 161.53

3

¹ The Milliken Deed also conveys "all that coal in an under" the 161.53 acres along with "surface rights which are incident or necessary to the removal of said coal[.]" JA00088 - JA00115.

acre tract.² As discussed below, SWN subsequently acquired an oil and gas lease from Conley and has leases in other parcels carved from the 161.53 acres.

In June 2007 - over 30 years after the Milliken Deed's mineral conveyance had expired - Eli Rabb executed a "Farmout Agreement" that purports to authorize third parties to develop the oil and gas underlying the 161.53 acre parcel. JA00001 - JA00010 (Complaint at ¶10). The rights created by that Farmout Agreement and related royalty interests were subsequently assigned by multiple instruments. JA00001 - JA00010 (Complaint at ¶11).

Eli Rabb died testate on October 31, 2009. JA00001 - JA00010 (Complaint ¶2). He devised his assets to the Eli Rabb Revocable Trust ("Trust"), which is a Defendant below. *Id.* Lee M. Rabb, also a Defendant, is the trustee. *Id.*

As a result of these instruments, multiple parties claim certain rights related to the oil and gas underlying the 161.53 acre tract, including the Conley Parcel. These parties include: (a) Plaintiff Conley; (b) SWN; and (c) Defendants, Tri-Energy, Inc., Tri-Energy Holdings, LLC, WPP, LLC, and Intervenor Trinity Health Systems Foundation. JA00001 - JA00010 (Complaint ¶12). Trinity purports to hold an overriding royalty interest in the oil and gas underlying the Conley Parcel, and its motion to intervene was unopposed and granted. JA00027 - JA00058 (Trinity motion to intervene); JA00059 - JA00061 (Aug. 3, 2015 order).

² Conley acquired these rights by deed dated June 26, 2000 from James Lee Milliken and Beatrice S. Milliken recorded in Deed Book 288, page 48 in the Brooke County Clerk's records. JA00001 - JA00010, Complaint, ¶13.

C. Procedural history.

1. Conley files this lawsuit for quiet title.

In 2014, Plaintiff Conley filed this suit over the competing claims to the ownership rights to the oil and gas underlying the Conley Parcel. *See* JA00001 - JA00010 (Complaint). Conley seeks a declaration that he, not the Defendants, owns the rights to develop the oil and gas underlying his property.

In response, the Trust filed a counterclaim seeking a declaration that "Eli Rabb purchased the coal, oil and gas underlying" the 161.53 acre parcel under the Milliken Deed. JA00015 - JA00026 (Answer and Counterclaim by Trust at p. 8-9).

The Trust also seeks a declaration relating to the mineral rights underlying the entire 161.53 acre parcel — not just the 3.763 acre Conley Parcel. Despite this fact, none of the persons who has an interest in the 161.53 acre tract has been named as parties to the case. Indeed, nothing in the record even reflects who may have an interest in the 161.53 acre tract besides Conley and Defendants.

In June 2016, Conley filed a motion for summary judgment. JA00088 - JA00115. Conley asked the circuit court to construe the unambiguous language of the Milliken Deed to determine the legal effect of that language on the nature and ownership status of the oil and gas rights referenced in the deed. JA00088 – JA00115 (Conley memorandum served June 2, 2016). According to Conley, the Milliken Deed created a perpetual leasehold interest in the oil and gas, which is unenforceable under West Virginia law and/or was abandoned by Eli Rabb due to failure to explore for oil and gas on the property. *Id.* at 6 - 12. Conley contended that a result, the oil and gas interests are held by the grantor of the Milliken Deed, Maria Milliken, and her successors in title, which includes Conley. *Id.*

In response, Defendants filed a cross-motion for summary judgment, seeking a declaration that they own the oil and gas rights as successors in title to Eli Rabb. Id. at 12 - 13. Defendants contended that the unambiguous language of the Milliken Deed provides that it conveyed a fee interest in the oil and gas to Eli Rabb that cannot be abandoned. Id. at 3 - 8.

Both cross-motions for summary judgment were over the construction of the Milliken Deed and thus implicated the oil and gas interests in the Conley Parcel, as well as potentially affecting title to other parcels carved from the broader 161.53 acres.

2. SWN learned of the Conley action and twice moved to intervene.

SWN learned of the Conley action while his summary judgment motion was pending. SWN has been actively developing oil and gas property in Brooke County and other portions of the West Virginia northern panhandle since 2014. JA00155 - JA00164 at 1–3. (Memorandum in Support of SWN Motion to Intervene). SWN has entered into oil and gas leases for other properties with chains of title that include deeds naming Eli Rabb as the grantee that reflect the same operative language as set forth in the Milliken Deed. *Id.* This includes properties that were once part of the 161.53 acre tract governed by the Milliken Deed.

On July 21, 2016, SWN first moved to intervene. SWN had leases for other properties governed by other deeds to Eli Rabb that contained the same type of language pertaining to the oil and gas rights. JA00155 - JA00164 at 1 - 3. (Memorandum in Support of SWN Motion to Intervene). Thus, SWN's rights and interests in those properties shared, at a minimum, common questions of fact and law with the claims and counterclaims at issue in the Conley action.

On August 16, 2016, the circuit court denied SWN's first motion to intervene. JA00217. It ruled that SWN's motion was not timely because it was made two years after the case was filed.

Id. at 3. The circuit court also ruled that SWN did not have any interest in the Conley Parcel, and any interests SWN could have would be adequately protected by Conley. *Id.*

The August 16, 2016 order denying intervention also granted Conley's request to delay ruling on the pending summary judgment motions to allow the parties to engage in limited discovery. *Id.* at 4. JA00218.

Following limited discovery, both sides renewed their summary judgment motions. JA00255 - JA00275 (Conley's renewed motion February 22, 2017); JA00228 - JA00254 (Defendants' renewed joint motion February 21, 2017). In June 2017, the circuit court denied both summary judgment motions. It determined that the language of the Milliken Deed was ambiguous with regard to the intent of the parties to the instrument. The court's order states that a jury will determine the following issues:

- (1) Who drafted the document in question?
- (2) Was the meaning or intention of the parties to convey a fee or a lease to Rabb of the coal, oil, and gas, or was the meaning and intention of the parties to create some combination?
- (3) If the parties['] intention was to create a lease of any or all of those rights, did said lease expire and, if so, when?
- (4) Any and all other factual questions that are deemed appropriate by the Court. JA00324-JA00338 (June 16, 2017 Order).

On June 2, 2017 - in the midst of the summary judgment briefing - SWN recorded an oil and gas lease from Conley for his parcel. JA00414 - JA00476. Defendants subsequently served SWN with an expansive subpoena duces tecum requesting 14 different categories of information concerning SWN's oil and gas operations and leases for property within the 161.53 acres governed

7

by the Milliken Deed, including requests for obviously privileged information such as title opinions. JA00387 - JA00391, Subpoena. Exh. A, ¶2.3

Shortly after receiving Defendants' subpoena, on August 17, 2018, SWN filed a second motion to intervene, which is at issue in this appeal. JA00414 - JA00476 SWN sought intervention under both the "mandatory" and "permissive" provisions of Rule 24. As explained more fully in the memorandum of law supporting the second motion to intervene, SWN's lease with Conley triggered a mandatory right for intervention. The lease created a legally protectable property interest in the Conley Parcel, and disposition of the pending declaratory judgment claims may impair SWN's ability to protect that interest. JA00088 - JA00115. SWN also explained how Conley could not adequately represent SWN's interests in the Conley parcel and other properties affected by an interpretation of the Milliken Deed. *Id.* SWN's interests in those other properties shared common questions of law and fact that also support permissive intervention. *Id.* At the time SWN filed its second motion to intervene, no scheduling order was in place, no trial date had been set, and very limited discovery had occurred.

While SWN's second motion to intervene was pending, three defendants moved for leave to assert counterclaims against Conley for declaratory judgment, trespass, and slander of title. JA00489-JA00515 (motion for leave). The Court granted the requested leave.

On September 13, 2018, Defendants jointly served a memorandum opposing SWN's motion to intervene and instead, jointly moved for leave to file a third-party complaint against

 $^{^3}$ SWN objected to the subpoena on multiple grounds and did not produce any documents in response. JA00388 - JA00390

SWN. JA00489 - JA00515. SWN did not oppose becoming a third-party defendant. JA00529 - JA00540.

On February 15, 2019, the circuit court entered a scheduling order, setting trial on August 26, 2019 and a discovery deadline of June 26, 2019. JA01003 - JA01009

A week later, on February 22, 2019, the circuit court denied SWN's second motion to intervene. It did not address Defendants' joint request for leave to file a third-party complaint against SWN. The circuit court denied this motion on the following grounds: (1) SWN's request was not timely; (2) SWN acquired its lease from Conley after the circuit court denied SWN's first motion to intervene; and (3) SWN's interests are adequately protected by Conley. *Id*.

The circuit court also granted Conley's motion to dismiss the trespass and slander of title claims on February 22, 2019. As a result, Conley's only remaining claim is for declaratory judgment regarding the title to the oil and gas in the Conley Parcel — whether the oil and gas interest is owned by Conley and SWN, or one of the Defendants.

Neither of the February 22, 2019 orders address the Defendants' joint request for leave to file a third-party complaint naming SWN. Only after the Court denied SWN's second motion to intervene did the Defendants seek leave to withdraw their request to name SWN as a third-party defendant. JA01121 - JA01127. The circuit court granted that motion by order entered on June 19, 2019.

3. SWN appealed the denial of its motion to intervene, and the circuit court refused to enter a stay pending the appeal.

SWN timely appealed the February 22, 2019 order denying its second motion to intervene to this Court. That order is at issue in this appeal.

On April 17, 2019, this Court established the appellate briefing schedule, with the final brief being due no later than August 28, 2019 - after the trial date in the circuit court. SWN is thus concurrently filing with this Court a motion to stay the proceedings in the circuit court.

This Court should reverse and remand to the circuit court, ordering that SWN be allowed to intervene in the underlying suit.

III. Summary of argument.

A. Assignment of Error No. 1.

This Court need not look far to reverse the circuit court's denial of intervention. SWN has an ownership right to the oil and gas interests at issue in this title dispute. The circuit court is deciding whether Plaintiff and SWN own the mineral rights, or whether one of the Defendants does. SWN is a necessary and indispensable party to this suit for quiet title and is entitled to intervene.

B. Assignment of Error No. 2.

The circuit court abused its discretion in finding that SWN did not timely move to intervene. SWN twice moved to intervene in this case, and filed its second motion to intervene the one at issue here - shortly after acquiring its leasehold interest to the oil and gas in the Conley Parcel. At the time it moved to intervene, no scheduling order had been entered, no trial date had been set, and only limited discovery had occurred. Further, the circuit court failed to consider the fact that SWN will be severely prejudiced if denied intervention, but conversely, no party will be unduly prejudiced if it intervenes. Indeed, the Defendants sought to add SWN as a third-party defendant in this case.

C. Assignment of Error No. 3.

The circuit court erred as a matter of law by denying intervention on the grounds that SWN acquired its property interest after suit was filed. SWN has a direct and substantial interest in this case - it is a necessary and indispensable party. The judgment in this case may also affect SWN's other leases stemming from the Milliken Deed.

Further, nothing in Rule 24 allows the circuit court to deny intervention based on an after acquired property right. The circuit court's interpretation of Rule 24 unfairly precludes intervention by persons who acquire an interest in property either with or without knowledge of pending litigation. Such an interpretation is contrary to the text and purpose of Rule 24 - to provide all persons having a cognizable interest in the subject of litigation with a proverbial "seat at the table" to protect their interests.

D. Assignment of Error No. 4.

The circuit court erred in concluding that SWN's interests would not be impaired if intervention were denied, and that SWN is adequately represented by Plaintiff Conley. SWN's rights would plainly be impaired, as discussed above.

Further, the circuit court made no findings of fact concerning SWN's interests or how Conley would adequately represent them. Nor could it. SWN's interests are not fully aligned with Conley's interests and are not adequately represented by him.

SWN's development of oil and gas underlying the Conley Parcel poses considerable risks not shared by Conley – namely the potential loss of substantial investment of time and capital associated with efforts to produce oil and gas. SWN also has leases for other properties governed by the Milliken Deed or instruments with similar language. A decision interpreting the Milliken Deed will likely be used as evidence to interpret ownership rights to those other properties. There

is no evidence that Conley has any motivation to protect those interests. Conley also likely lacks the financial wherewithal to vigorously pursue his property rights to the same degree as SWN.

IV. Statement regarding oral argument and decision.

The Court should grant Rule 20 oral argument for at least two reasons. First, the assignments of error present at least one issue of first impression under West Virginia law -- whether a person who acquires a legally protectable interest in real property during the pendency of a quiet title action is precluded from intervening in that action under Rule 24 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. SWN has not identified any reported decision by the West Virginia Supreme Court squarely addressing this issue. The circuit court's ruling that those circumstances preclude intervention finds no support in the text of Rule 24 and is contrary to existing law governing indispensable parties for resolution of quiet title actions. "It is axiomatic that when a court proceeding directly affects an interest in real property, any persons who claim an interest in the real property at issue are necessary parties to the proceeding. Therefore, any decree issued in the absence of those parties is void." *O'Daniels v. City of Charleston*, 200 W. Va. 711, 716, 490 S.E.2d 800, 805 (1997). The circuit court's ruling is also contrary to the purpose of Rule 24 -- ensuring that all persons with an interest in real property have an opportunity to participate in an action that may affect or impair their respective property interests.

Second, a property owner's ability to participate in pending litigation involving the ownership of its property involves issues of fundamental public importance: protection of private property rights. The lower court's decision excluding SWN from participating in a quiet title action involving the very oil and gas rights that SWN has acquired threatens the ability of property owners to protect their rights.

For all these same reasons, a memorandum decision would not be an appropriate means for disposition of this appeal.

V. Argument.

A. Grounds for intervention in a pending civil action.

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