# DO NOT REMOVE FILE COPY

# STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS Charleston

AUG - 6 2019

**SWN Production Company, LLC Putative Intervener Below, Petitioner** 

v.

Case No. 19-0267

Corey Conley et al., Plaintiffs and Defendants Below, Respondents

JOINT RESPONDENTS' BRIEF OF LEE M. RABB, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS TRUSTEE OF THE ELI RABB REVOCABLE TRUST DATED OCTOBER 7, 2005, TRIENERGY, INC., TRIENERGY HOLDINGS, LLC, WPP, LLC AND TRINITY HEALTH SYSTEM FOUNDATION

Richard N. Beaver (WVSB No. 6864)
PHILLIPS, GARDILL, KAISER &
ALTMEYER, PLLC
61 Fourteenth Street
Wheeling, WV 26003
Phone 304-232-6810
richardbeaver@pgka.com
Counsel for Lee M. Rabb, individually

II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	A. Introduction
	B. Nature of SWN's Attempts to Intervene in the Underlying Case5
III.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
	A. SWN's Petition Does Not Set Forth a Basis for How the Circuit Court Abused Its Discretion in Denying its Multiple Attempts to Intervene.  As such, Its Petition Should be denied
	B. Petitioner's Assignment of Alleged Error No. 16
	C. Petitioner's Assignment of Alleged Error No. 27
	D. Petitioner's Assignment of Alleged Error No. 3
	E. Petitioner's Assignment of Alleged Error No. 48
	F. Petitioner's Assignment of Alleged Error No. 58
IV.	STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION8
V.	ARGUMENT9
<b>A.</b>	Standard of Review9
В.	Grounds Why Intervention by SWN in the Pending Action Was Not Proper13
C.	Assignment of Alleged Error No. 1 and 3-The Circuit Court Correctly Held that SWN Did Not Have an Interest in the Real Estate Underlying the Subject Property When the Action Was Filed and Its Attempts to Create an Interest in the Subject Property Were Not Proper Reasons for Intervention
D.	Assignment of Alleged Error No. 2-SWN's Appeal Must Be Denied Because It Cannot Overcome the Fact that Its Motion to Intervene Was Not Timely

E	Assignment of Alleged Error No. 4-The Circuit Court Held That SWN's Interests will be Adequately Represented by Conley21
F.	Assignment of Alleged Error No. 5-The Circuit Court Properly Denied SWN's Request for Permissive Joinder
VI.	CONCLUSION25

#### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

#### **Case Law Authority**

Bartles v. Hinkle, 196 W. Va. 381, 472 S.E.2d 827 (1996)

Cannelton Indus., Inc. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. of Am., 194 W. Va. 186, 460 S.E.2d 1 (1994)

Coordinating Council for Independent Living, Inc. v. Palmer, 209 W.Va. 274, 546 S.E.2d 454 (2001)

Cox v. State, 194 W.Va. 210, 460 S.E.2d 25 (1995)

Gibbs v. W. Virginia ALF-CIO, No. 17-0320 (W.Va. Supreme Court, October 23, 2017)

Jeffcoat v. Blyth Eastman Paine Webber, Inc., 896 F.2d 1367 (4th Cir. 1990)

Lloyd's, Inc. v. Lloyd, 225 W. Va. 377, 693 S.E.2d 451 (2010)

Minge v. Davison, 94 Fla. 1197, 115 So. 510 (Fla. 1928)

NAACP v. New York, 413 U.S. 345, 93 S.Ct. 2591, 37 L.Ed.2d 648 (1973)

Nelson Bullock Co. v. South Down Development Co., 132 Fla. 495, 181 So. 365 (Fla. 1938)

Pauley v. Bailey, 171 W. Va. 651, 301 S.E.2d 608 (1983)

Pioneer Co. v. Hutchinson, 159 W.Va. 276, 220 S.E.2d 894 (1975)

State ex rel. Ball v. Cummings, 208 W.Va. 393, 540 S.E.2d 917 (1999)

State ex rel. E.D.S. Fed. Corp. v. Ginsberg, 163 W.Va. 647, 259 S.E.2d 618 (1979)

State ex rel. Energy Corp. of Am. v. Marks, 235 W. Va. 465, 774 S.E.2d 546, (2015)

State ex rel. Vedder v. Zakaib, 217 W.Va. 528, 618 S.E.2d 537 (2005)

Walker v. West Virginia Ethics Commission, 201 W.Va. 108, 492 S.E.2d 167 (1997)

#### West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure

Rule 20

Rule 24

#### I. PETITIONER'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ALLEGED ERROR

- 1. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner's right to intervene in the case below, because the Petitioner, SWN Production Company, LLC ("SWN"), did not have an ownership interest at the time the complaint was filed, it admittedly did not have an interest when its first motion to intervene was filed more than two (2) years later, and the only interest it claimed in its second motion to intervene was an interest it attempted to create by entering into an oil and gas lease with the plaintiff below, some three (3) years after the complaint was filed, and at a time when SWN knew that the ownership rights were in dispute. Respondents are aware of no West Virginia law that allows a party to create an interest in a case solely for intervention, as SWN did in this matter. Additionally, the circuit court correctly found that neither of SWN's attempts to intervene were timely.
- 2. The circuit court was correct in holding that SWN did not timely move, pursuant to W. Va. R. CIV. P. 24, to intervene in the underlying case. SWN first moved to intervene more than two (2) years after the case was filed, with, admittedly, no interest in the underlying property. Subsequently, it waited seventeen (17) months after it attempted to create an interest in the subject property, by entering into an oil and gas lease with the plaintiff, before attempting to intervene a second time. The determination of whether a motion to intervene is timely is within the discretion of the circuit court and will only be reversed on appeal if the circuit court abused its discretion. Here, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion.
- 3. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that SWN had no protectable interest in the underlying subject property. SWN had no interest when the complaint was filed. SWN admitted it had no interest in the subject property when it first attempted to intervene and the only interest SWN had when it attempted to intervene a second time, was an

interest it attempted to create in the subject property, by entering into a lease with the plaintiff, three (3) years after the complaint was filed. Respondents are aware of no West Virginia law allowing SWN to create an interest in a case, solely for the purpose of intervention, as SWN did in the case below.

- 4. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that any interest that SWN claimed in the subject property, by way of its attempts to create such an interest by entering into a lease with the plaintiff, could be adequately protected by the plaintiff.
- 5. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying permissive intervention by SWN. The circuit court is given broad discretion and its ruling on permissive joinder is reviewed on an abuse of discretion standard. Here, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying SWN's request for permissive joinder, when SWN first attempted sought intervention two (2) years after the case was filed. Similarly, the court did not abuse its discretion in denying SWN second motion to intervene, because SWN waited nearly a year and a half after attempting to create its interest in the subject property to seek joinder. SWN's created intervention was a leased interest in the oil and gas it believed the plaintiff owned. Therefore, the plaintiff could protect that interest.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Introduction

As a threshold matter, SWN's contentions within its Appellate Brief are confusing and contradictory. It claims it has an "ownership interest in the property whose title is in dispute in this suit to quiet title" (Pet'r's Br. at 1), yet it admitted in its initial attempt to intervene, which it sought two (2) years after the complaint was filed, **that it had claimed no "ownership of any mineral right in the** (subject property)" JA00155 – JA00164 at 7. (Memorandum in Support of SWN Motion to Intervene) (emphasis supplied). Even when SWN attempted to create an interest one (1) year later, by entering into an oil and gas lease with plaintiff Corey Conley ("plaintiff" or "Conley"), it entered into that lease, ostensibly, because it believed Conley, not SWN, owned the oil and gas rights underlying the subject property.

In that regard, the actual issues relevant to SWN's appeal are: 1) whether the circuit court abused its discretion in denying SWN's intervention; 2) whether SWN was timely in either of its attempts to intervene, and 3) whether a can a party, like SWN can, **create** its interest in a case for intervention purposes. The Circuit court did not abuse its discretion, SWN was not timely in its motion to intervene and Respondents are aware of no West Virginia law allowing a party to create its interest for intervention.

Conley brought this quiet title action on May 22, 2014, claiming ownership of all or a share of the oil and gas rights underlying 3.763 acres located in Brooke County, West Virginia ("3.763-acre tract" or "subject property"). Conley had acquired the subject property by Deed dated June 26, 2000. The 3.763-acre tract comprises a part of the surface estate of the larger tract of property consisting of approximately 161 acres that belonged to Maria H. Milliken, who, pursuant to the deed dated June 5, 1959 (hereinafter "Milliken Deed"), conveyed the coal and the

oil and gas rights to the underlying property to Eli Rabb, excepting a 1/8 royalty of "of any and all production of Oil and Gas that may be discovered on said property".

Eli Rabb later transferred his oil and gas production rights underlying the Milliken property, including the plaintiff's 3.763 acres, via a "Farmout Agreement," dated June 5, 2007, to TriEnergy, Inc., excepting and reserving a 1.5% overriding royalty interest in all oil and gas saved and produced from the 161-acre tract (including the oil and gas underlying Conley's property). Subsequently, Mr. Rabb conveyed the 1.5% overriding royalty interest as a gift to Intervener Defendant Trinity Health System Foundation and conveyed, via a Conveyance and Assignment of Oil and Gas Rights dated May 16, 2008, Mr. Rabb conveyed his interests in the oil and gas rights to TriEnergy Inc.

After presumably conducting his title search to determine all parties who may have a claim to the oil and gas rights underlying the subject property, Conley sued seven (7) parties who he believed had an interest in the oil and gas rights underlying the subject property on May 22, 2014: Lee M. Rabb, individually and as Trustee of the Eli Rabb Revocable Trust Dated October 7, 2005 ("Rabb") Chesapeake Appalachia, LLC ("Chesapeake"), Jamestown Resources, LLC ("Jamestown"), and TriEnergy, Inc., TriEnergy Holdings, LLC and WPP, Inc. (collectively "TriEnergy"). Conley did not sue SWN because they owned no interest in the oil and gas underlying his property at the time he filed his complaint. For a variety of reasons, all defendants except Rabb and TriEnergy were dismissed, ostensibly, because none had valid claims to the oil and gas rights underlying the property. Interestingly, not only did Conley not sue SWN's in his initial Complaint, he never sought to amend his Complaint to name SWN as a party.

#### B. Nature of SWN's Attempts to Intervene in The Underlying Case Below.

SWN has twice, unsuccessfully, attempted to intervene into the instant action. SWN initially moved to intervene into this matter on or about July 22, 2016, although it admittedly did not have any ownership interest of "any mineral right", including the oil and gas, in the subject property. By Order entered on August 16, 2016, the Court denied SWN's initial Motion to Intervene. The Court denied that motion largely based upon SWN's lack of an ownership interest in the oil and gas underlying the subject property, the fact that SWN's motion was untimely, because the disposition of the case did not impair SWN's ability to protect its interests, and because SWN aligned itself with Conley, thereby adequately protecting its interests.

Approximately seven (7) months after the Court's August 16, 2016, Order denying SWN's Motion to Intervene, SWN entered into an oil and gas lease with Conley, relative to the subject property. When SWN entered into the lease with Conley on March 7, 2017, it knew that the ownership of the oil and gas rights underlying the subject property were in dispute in this case. JA00414. Although the lease was dated March 7, 2017 it was not recorded until June 2, 2017. Inexplicably, SWN then waited an additional seventeen (17) months after it entered into the lease with Conley, and fifteen (15) months after the lease was recorded, before attempting intervention for a second time. In its second motion to intervene, filed on August 17, 2018, SWN argued, in part, that it should be permitted to intervene because it now possessed a leasehold in the oil and gas rights to the subject property. JA00414 – JA00476 (SWN's Second Motion to Intervene).

The Court denied SWN's second motion to intervene by Order entered February 22, 2019. JA001024 – 001030 (Order Denying SWN's Second Motion to Intervene). In exercising its discretion to deny SWN's second motion to intervene, the circuit court first found that the motion was untimely because SWN waited nearly a year and a half after entering the lease with Conley to file its second motion to intervene. Second, the circuit court recognized that, after being denied intervention, SWN entered the lease with Conley to attempt to create an interest in the real estate in an effort to cure one of its defects in its initial motion for intervention. Third, the Court found that SWN aligned itself with Conley by entering the lease, which lease resulted in both Conley and SWN having the same apparent interest in the real estate. The circuit court's ruling denying SWN's Second Motion to Intervene was within its sound discretion, and the trial court, clearly, did not abuse that discretion. As such, SWN's appeal must be denied.

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. SWN's Petition Does Not Set Forth a Basis for How the Circuit Court Abused its Discretion in Denying its Multiple Attempts to Intervene. As such, its Petition Should Be Denied.

The right to allow intervention is vested solely with the circuit court in West Virginia. To be successful in its appeal, SWN must set forth a basis as to how the circuit court abused its discretion in denying SWN's multiple attempts to intervene in the case below. The Court's denial of SWN's motion to intervene must be reviewed on an abuse of discretion standard. When the circuit court's orders denying SWN's intervention are analyzed, it is clear that the circuit court followed the law in West Virginia in denying SWN's attempts to intervene and did not abuse its discretion in those denials. As such, SWN's appeal must be denied.

## B. Petitioner's Assignment of Alleged Error No. 1.

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner's right to intervene in the case below, because the petitioner, SWN Production Company, LLC ("SWN") did not have an ownership interest at the time the complaint was filed. SWN admittedly did not have an interest when its first motion to intervene was filed more than two (2) years later. The only interest SWN claimed in its second motion to intervene was an interest it attempted to create by

entering into an oil and gas lease with the plaintiff below, some three (3) years after the complaint was filed, and at a time when SWN knew that the ownership rights were in dispute. Nothing within West Virginia law allows a party, like SWN, to create its intervention in a case for the sole purpose of intervening.

## C. Petitioner's Assignment of Alleged Error No. 2.

The circuit court correctly held that SWN did not timely move, pursuant to W. Va. R. CIV. P. 24, to intervene in the underlying case. Timeliness in seeking intervention is a requirement of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. This Honorable Court has repeatedly held that the issue of timeliness in seeking intervention is within the discretion of the trial court. SWN first moved to intervene more than two (2) years after the case was filed, with, admittedly, no interest in the underlying property. Subsequently, SWN waited more than seventeen (17) months after it attempted to create an interest in the subject property, by entering into a lease with the plaintiff, before filing its second motion to intervene. The circuit court properly, and within its discretion, found SWN's second motion to intervene to not be timely.

# D. Petitioner's Assignment of Alleged Error No. 3.

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that SWN had no protectable interest in the underlying subject property. SWN admitted it had no interest in the subject property when it first attempted to intervene and the only interest in the subject property that SWN had when it attempted to intervene a second time, was an interest it attempted to create in the subject property, by entering into a lease with the plaintiff three (3) years after the complaint was filed. By entering into an oil and gas lease with the Plaintiff, SWN tacitly admitted that the Plaintiff, not it, owned the oil and gas rights underlying the subject property. Further,

Respondents are aware of no law that allows SWN to create an interest in a case for the sole purpose of intervention. Therefore, the circuit court's findings on this issue were correct.

#### E. Petitioner's Assignment of Alleged Error No. 4.

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